

Al- Imam Mohammad Bin Saud Islamic University College of Science Department of chemistry

Evaluation of human exposure to Arsenic:

A Review

Undergraduate research project

Submitted to the Department of Chemistry in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the completion of the degree of Bachelor of Science in Chemistry

By: Saleh Abdullah Alaqeel

Under the supervision of Dr. Fuad Ababneh

First Semester, Dec.2016

List of Figures:

Figure 1: Most co	ommon species	of arsenic	compounds	
	ommon speces	01 01001110	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	••••••

List of Tables:

Table 1: Arsenic species found in aquatic environment	8
Table 2: Variations of soil arsenic content in different geographic locations	.10
Table 3: Concentrations of arsenic specie in particulate materials of air in different regions.	.12
Table 4: Total arsenic content of some selected plant food	.15
Table 5: Total and inorganic arsenic content of marine food	16
Table 6: Total and inorganic arsenic in infant rice and infant food	.17

Table of Contents

1- Introduction	6
2- Arsenic occurrence in the environment	3
2-1: arsenic in water8	3
2-2: arsenic in soil9)
2-3: arsenic in air1	10
3- Toxicity of arsenic species1	2
4-Arsenic in food14	4
4-1: arsenic in terrestrial plants14	4
4-2: arsenic in seafood1	6
4-3: arsenic in rice-based infant formula10	6
5- Analysis of arsenic species17	7
6- Arsenic removal18	3
7- Conclusion and recommendations19)
References)

Title:

Evaluation of human exposure to Arsenic: Review

Abstract:

This review describes the various routs of human exposure to arsenic, the toxicity effects of arsenic on human and evaluation of drinking water, food and other environmental compartments to their contents of arsenic. Particular interest is focused on children's food because at the age of below 1 year the children immune system is not fully developed.

Keywords: Arsenic, Speciation, Toxicity, Food, Drinking water

Introduction:

Arsenic (As) is a metalloid with a ubiquitous presence in the environment; it occurs in different forms (organic and inorganic) in rock, soil, water, air and living organisms.

(Mandal & Suzuki, 2002). Arsenic is the 20th most abundant element of the Earth's crust and over 245 arsenic bearing minerals are known (Mandal & Suzuki, 2002). The major natural source of As entering the soil is weathering of rocks containing As, while the anthropogenic sources include combustion of coal(contains 9 mg/kg or higer(Yudovich and Ketris , 2005), industrial activities like smelting of base metal ores(metallic pyrites contain 10% arsenic(Bowel et al. 2014), application of As-based pesticides, chromated copper arsenate (CCA) for wood preservation and mining activities (Smedley and Kinniburgh,2002). High-purity arsenic is used in the electronics industry to manufacture semi-conductors, solar cells, and specially coated optical materials [USGS]. The main sources of human exposure to As are water and certain food matrices, such as rice, wheat, seaweed, mushrooms and some fishery products [EFSA, WHO, 2010). It has been evidently reported that As consumption from drinking water has affected about 150 million people worldwide(mainly in Bangladesh, India, China, Hungary, Pakistan, Argentina, Chile, Mexico, Taiwan,Vietnam and many parts of USA (Smedley et al., 2002).

Arsenic can be present as inorganic (i-As), the most prevailing toxic compound found in water and food, and organic compounds (o-As), which originate from the metabolism of i-As in living organisms. The forms of most common species of arsenic are presented in Figure 1.

This review summarizes the methods of human exposure to arsenic through water and food and the toxicity effects of arsenic species and the impact on human health.

Inorganic Arsenic



Figure 1: Most common species of arsenic compounds

2- Arsenic in the environment

Arsenic occurs in the environment as due to natural (leaching from soil matrices, volcanic activity, erosion and sedimentation events, and seasonal flooding) and anthropogenic sources (industrial, agricultural and mining activities (Mandal and Suzuki, 2002). Arsenic exposure routes for humans are via ingestion (food, beverages, drinking water and soil), inhalation (air and dust respiration), and dermal contact (soil and pathimg). (Al-Rmalli et al., 2011; Arain et al., 2009).

2-1: Arsenic in water

The occurrence, distribution, and speciation of arsenic in aquatic systems are particularly important in determining its bioaccumulation and trophic transfer through the food chain. Although inorganic arsenic species (AsV and AsIII) are the major species, methylated and complex organic species have also been found in marine and fresh waters. Arsenic species found in natural waters are shown in Table 1.

 Table 1: Arsenic species found in aquatic environment

	Name	Formula	Abbreviation
1	Arsenous acid or arsenite	H ₃ AsO ₃	As(III)
2	Arsenic acid or arsenate	H ₃ AsO ₄	As(V)
3	Monomethylarsonous acid	CH ₃ As(OH) ₂	MMA(III)
4	Monomethylarsonic acid	CH ₃ AsO(OH) ₂	MMA(V)
5	Dimethylarsinous acid	$(CH_3)_2As(OH)$	DMA(III)
6	Dimethylarsinic acid	(CH ₃) ₂ AsO(OH)	DMA(V)
7	Trimethylarsine	(CH ₃) ₃ As	TMA
8	Trimethylarsine oxide	(CH ₃) ₃ AsO	TMAO
9	Arsenocholine	(CH ₃) ₃ As ⁺ CH ₂ CH ₂ OH	AsC
10	Arsenobetaine	(CH ₃) ₃ As ⁺ CH ₂ CO ₂ ⁻	AsB
11	Arsenosugars	(CH ₃) ₂ AsOCH ₂ C ₄ H ₄ O-R ^a	AsS
12	Arsenic glutathione complex	(GS) ₃ As(III) ^b	(GS) ₃ As(III)
	• •	1 /- 1 /	1 /- 1 /

^a R can be an alcohol, phosphate, sulfate, sulfite, carboxylic acid or a heterocycle.

^b GS represents the glutathione anion.

Concentrations of arsenic in surface freshwater systems (rivers and lakes) vary widely with baseline concentrations in waters of various contaminated rivers range between 0.1 and 2.1 mg / L. However high concentrations of naturally occurring arsenic have been reported in the Ron Phibun river, Thailand (average 218 and range 4.8–583 μ g/L,Williams et al 1996). The mining and processing of arsenopyrite ores lead to very high level of arsenic in Mole River, Australia 110–600 (up to 13900 μ g/L)(Ashley and Lottermoser (1999).

Arsenic concentration with an average of 1.5 μ g/L tends to be less variable in marine waters than those of freshwaters, for example the arsenic concentration in deep Pacific and Atlantic waters is between 1.0–1.8 μ g/L (Cullen andReimer, 1989), and 1.1-1.6 μ g/L in coastal waters of southern Australia(Maher, 1985a).

In drinking and ground water the maximum concentration limit set by WHO is $10\mu g/L$. However an estimation of about 100 million populations all around the world are exposed to arsenic levels more than $50\mu g/L$ (Moon et al., 2012) via drinking water especially in some Asiatic countries such as India, Taiwan, Nepal, Pakistan, Vietnam, Cambodia, China and Bangladesh due to natural leaching of arsenic from soil and rock to ground water (Ravenscroft et al., 2013). Uncontaminated drinking water contains very low level of arsenic, for example , in Italy the Tap water contain an average of $0.6\mu g/L$ with a range of $0.2-1.1\mu g/L$ while the Bottled water contain an average of $2.1\mu g/L$ with a range of $1.2-3.5\mu g/L$ (Cubadda, F. et. Al. 2016)

2-2 Arsenic in soil

The major natural source of As entering the soil is weathering of rocks containing As, the average concentration of arsenic in igneous and sedimentary rocks is 2 mg kg⁻¹ and in most rocks it ranges from 0.5 to 2.5 mg kg⁻¹ (Kabata-Pendias, H. Pendias), while the anthropogenic sources include various human activities such as smelting of base metal ores, mining and application of As-based pesticides, chromated copper arsenate (CCA) for wood preservation (Smedley and Kinniburgh, 2002). It is also observed that continuous irrigation with As-contaminated groundwater may lead to a build-up of arsenic in soils, which in turn may prompt its entry into the food chain in harmful

concentrations. Indeed, the level of Arsenic uptake and accumulation in crops is strongly influenced by the concentrations of As in soils and irrigated water (Smith et al., 2006) The level of arsenic in the soils varies considerably among geographic regions as shown in table 2.

Country	Range mg/kg	Mean mg/kg	Reference
Greece (contaminated)	16-1200	210	E.K.Evdokia and E.E Economou 2017
India, Bihar	3.528 – 14.690 mg/kg.		Manjo et. al. 2016
Chili	2.7-202		De Gregori et. al. 2003
Colorado	3-14		Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment
Central india	9-390		Vicky-Singh et al., 2010

Table 2: Variations of soil arsenic content in different geographic locations

The most common forms of arsenic species found in soil are pentavalent and trivalent (As(v) and As(iii)), the arsenate species are predominant in oxidizing environment while the in reducing condition the arsenite or arsenic sulfide are most common (Liying Xua et al. 2016).

2-3 Arsenic in air

Arseinc can be released from soils into the atmosphere due to microbial metabolism, in addition to volcanoes, low temperature volatilization, wind erosion, forest fires and sea spray. Arsenic species that has been identified in atmospheric samples are mainly As(III) and Av(V), and to a minor extend monomethyl arsenic acid (MMA) and dimethylarsinic acid DMA, these species are associated with the particulate materials (adsorbed)

whereas arsines (AsH₃) and methylated arsines such as mono, di and trimethyl arsines (MeAsH₂, Me₂AsH, Me₃As) correspond to the gaseous phase.

The mean worldwide concentration of arsenic in ambient air was estimated in 1978 as 2.8 ng/m³ [2]. However, due to increased industrial activities and smelting of metals the previous estimated value should be dealed with wariness (Chilvers, et al. 1987). For instance, a mean value of 51 ng/m³ was reported in for main cities in China (Duan& Tan , 2013). In 2010, Alberta province in Canada set a permission value of 10 ng/m³. The first regulation concerning As in ambient air was established by the EU in 2005 with a target value of 6 ng Arseinc/ m³ in PM10 (particulate material with 10 um). In 2010, Alberta province in Canada set a permission value of 10 ng/m³. The first regulation concerning As in ambient air was established by the EU in 2005 with a target value of 6 ng Arseinc/ m³ in PM10 (particulate material with 10 um). In 2010, Alberta province in Canada set a permission value of 10 ng/m³ (Alberta Environment). Particulate matter (PM), also referred as aerosol, represents the solid or liquid suspended particles present in the atmosphere. Expressed in microns (e.g. PM10 and PM2.5, usually designed as "coarse" and "fine" particles). The smaller the diameter of the particles, the higher their capacity to penetrate into the respiratory system: PM10 particles can reach the larynx, PM2.5 the bronchi, and PM1 the alveoli (EPA, 2004).

The different arsenic species along with their concentrations and in which size of particulate materials found in various countries are presented in table 3.

Country	Arsenic species	Concentration ng/m ³	Reference
	MMA	0-485 TSP	
Japan	DMA	3-53 TSP	Mukai and Ambe(1987)
	ТМА	6-604 TSP	
	As(V)	3.2 TSP	
Greece	As(V)	1.7 PM2.5	Tsopelas, et al. 2008
	As(V)	1 PM 10	
California LICA	As(iii)	0.14-1.51 TSP	Solomon, et . al. 1993
California, USA	As(V)	0.17- 6.54 TSP	
Deiiing China	As(iii)	0.73-20 TSP	Yang, et al. 2012
Beijing, China	As(V)	14-250 TSP	
Huelva, Spain	As(iii)	0.01-2.7 PM2.5	Sanchez de la Campa et al 2008
	As(V)	0.01-56.2 PM2.5	

Table 3: Concentrations of arsenic specie in particulate materials of air in different regions

TSP: total suspended particulate, PM 10: particulate materials with 10 $\mu m,$ PM2.5 with 2.5 μm

3-Toxicity of arsenic species

The toxic properties of arsenic were known hundreds of years ago, where the **realgar** (arsenic sulfide with crystal of -red-orange color) kills horses and cattle when put into water. The Chinese are credited with using arsenic sulfides as an insecticide as early as 900 AD. Exposure to inorganic arsenic through consumption of water and food and occupational exposure to air leads to serious effects on human health. Low doses and

long term exposures of arsenic leads to a range of medical complications termed as "Arsenicosis" (McCartyet al., 2011).

Toxicity of arsenic to human depends on many chemical and biological factors, such as chemical forms and oxidation states (speciation of arsenic), level of exposure (amount or concentration), exposure pathway, duration of exposure, nutritional status, the rate of absorption and elimination, the particle size (in case of inhalation), bioavailability and presence of co-carcinogenic factors like exposure to sunlight or cigarette smoking.

The inorganic arsenic compounds[As(iii) and As(v)], including arsenic trioxide, arsenite, and arsenate are classified as carcinogenic to humans by the International Agency for Research in Cancer (GroupI),with extensive evidence of lung, bladder and skin cancer, and positive association with kidney, liver and prostate cancer(IARC,2016). The benchmark dose lower bound BMDL for inorganic arsenic is set to be 3 ug/kg bw/day and the estimated half life of inorganic arsenic in plasma is 3-4 hours (ASTDR, 2007). The three most commonly employed biomarkers used to identify or quantify arsenic exposure are total arsenic in hair or nails, blood arsenic, and total or speciated metabolites of arsenic in urine

The inorganic As species arsenite (As(III)) and arsenate (As(V)) are predominantly detected in water, over 75% of inorganic arsenic is absorbed through the human gastrointestinal tract, and excretion occurs mainly via urine as methylated arsenic(Spayd et al., 2012). Low to moderate levels of arsenic exposure (10–300 μ g/L) through drinking water has adverse effects such as skin lesions, circulatory disorders, neurological complications, diabetes, respiratory complications, hepatic and renal dysfunction including mortality(death) due to chronic diseases (Chen et al., 2009). However, the acute toxicity of high dose of inorganic arsenic leads to death.

After ingestion of inorganic arsenic the metabolism is characterized by reduction of As(V) to As(III) followed by oxidative biological methylation of As(III) to form methylated products, where primarily MMA(V) and DMA(V) are readily excreted in urine.

It is well known that inorganic species of arsenic are more toxic than the organic forms of arsenic and the As(III) is more toxic than As(v). However, recent findings show the following order of acute toxicity:

MMA(III) > As(III) > As(V) > DMA(V) > MMA(V),

Knowing that MMA(III) has not been detected in food or water (EFSA, 2009).

4-Arsenic in food

Air, soil, food, and water exist as transfer pathways of arsenic to the human body, the continuous use of contaminated water with arsenic in irrigation usually lead to increase the arsenic concentration in soil and as a consequence the bio transfer of arsenic to plant and food.

Food is the second important source of human exposure to arsenic after drinking water, The As(v) species (such as phenylarsonic acids and 3-nitro-4-hydroxy- phenylarsonic acid) have been used as feed additives for disease control and for improvement of weight gain in swine and poultry. These compounds are known to be rapidly excreted within 5 days

The form or species of arsenic present in food depend on the type of food, for this reason we will disuses the arsenic content in important categories of human food.

4-1: arsenic in terrestrial plants

Some plants have potential for phytoremediation, which is the property of absorbing elements present in soil. This property is an advantage if the plant uses it to absorb essential elements. However, the presence of toxic elements such as arsenic may lead to dangerous health issue if the plant were ingested by human.

Rice seems to contain higher levels of arsenic compounds than many other terrestrial plants or crops (Meharg et al., 2009; Williams et al., 2007). It accumulates significantly higher levels of inorganic arsenic from soil and water than other crops due to anaerobic paddy soil culture, which renders inorganic arsenic highly available for plant uptake, leading to 10-fold higher concentrations in grain compared to aerobically grown grains such as wheat or barley (Meharg & Zhao, 2012; William et al., 2007; Xu,).

The concentration of total arsenic in rice and other selected terrestrial plants are presented in table 4.

Plant	Total arsenic µg/kg	Reference
Maize	152	Diaz et al. 2004
Beans	22	Diaz et al. 2004
Apple	3-81	Heather et al. 2014
Spinach	121	Diaz et al. 2004
Rice	3-1800	Heather et al. 2014
Rice	192-899	Norton et al. (2012)

Table 4: Total arsenic content of some selected plant food

It has been shown that most of arsenic in rice present in the inorganic form (Heather et al. 2014); the most toxic species of arsenic.

4-1-1: Effect of cooking on arsenic content of rice

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) stated that an intake ranging from 0.3 to $8\mu g kg^{-1}$ body weight (b.w.) per day should be used as a reference for characterizing Asi risk (European Food Safety Authority, 2014a,b, Rice as a traditional food worldwide it's content of arsenic should be evaluated after cooking, this is important in calculating the exposure to arsenic through by this way and to determine the health risk associated with consumption of cooked rice. A recent study conducted by Jitaru et. al (2016) showed that the cooking procedures have the potential to reduce the level of As in rice, particularly by rinsing and discarding the boiling water, However, in real world the rice is boiled in water until complete absorption.

4-2: arsenic in seafood

Phytoplankton is the most common primary producer in marine food chains and the arsenic in phytoplankton will transfer to other higher species in the food chain, and may

biomagnified to higher concentrations. Arsenic concentration and speciation vary greatly in phytoplankton. In algae the arsenic content also vary upon the species of algae, brown algae contain much higher levels of total arsenic (up to 230 mg g⁻¹ dwt) than green (up to 23.3 mg g⁻¹ dwt) and red (up to 39 mg g⁻¹ dwt)(Molin et al 2015). Although fish and seafood are the food groups with the high arsenic content as shown in table 5 (Heather et al. 2014), these food groups are generally low in inorganic arsenic (usually less than 50%)(EFSA.2009, Uneyama et. al. , 2007). The most or predominant species of arsenic found in seafood is the non toxic compound arsenobetaine (figure 1) which is known as fish arsenic. Perhaps a few exceptions exist, e.g. some marine algae contains vary high percentage of inorganic arsenic (EFSA.2009)

Type/ species	ti As	tAs μg/kg
Fish	0.001-0.600 (0.045)	0.0022 -75 (5)
Seaweed/algae	0.014-120.(11)	0.031-150 (39)
Seafood(various)	0.29-1700(0.13)	0.0071-100 (10)

Table 5: Total and inorganic arsenic content of marine food

ti As: Total inorganic arsenic, tAs: total arsenic

4-3: arsenic in rice-based infant formula

Infant rice cereals, often the first solid food an infant receives at the ages 4-6 months, because of the good ability of infant stomach to digest rice compared to other solid food. Due to the high dependence of infants on rice foods during their first year, and becusse of the weak immune system of infants, several studies (Burlo, et al 2012, Ljung et al 2011, Carbonell et al. 2012) have quantified both total As and inorganic As contents in baby rice. The varied concentrations of arsenic species in rice-based infant formulas are presented in table 6. A recent study (Courtney et Al. 2016) estimated the infant exposure to arsenic based on data adapted from US Food and Drug Administration for the arsenic

content of rice formula as(median :total arsenic: 0.20 μ g/g; inorganic arsenic: 0.12 μ g/g) and the maximum (total arsenic: 0.37 μ g/g; inorganic arsenic 0.25 μ g/g). The study revealed that that rice cereal can markedly increase arsenic exposure among US infants relative to breast milk and formula

Country	Food	tAs µg/kg	iAs µg/kg	Reference
Spain	Infant rice	126 ± 26	69 ± 8	Carbonell,
	Infant	33 ± 6	26 ± 5	et al. 2012
1117	Leieais		(0.1.0)	36.1
UK	Infant rice		60-160	Meharg et
				al.2008
China	Infant rice	$148\ \pm 16$	114 ± 15	Carbonell,
				et al. 2012
USA		260 ± 66	125 ± 14	Carbonell,
				et al. 2012
Sweden	Infant rice	30		Ljung, et al.
				2011

Table 6: Total and inorganic arsenic in infant rice and infant food

The above table show that both total As and inorganic As contents are significantly high in baby rice as a main food for infants.

5-Analysis of arsenic species

First of all, representative samples from the environment (food, soil, air or water) l must be collected very carefully, the tools of collection must be clean, (free of metals especially arsenic) and a blank procedure must be followed in the field and in lab to be sure that the arsenic content of representative samples is not of external source other than the sample itself. To have a good estimation of arsenic content of various environmental samples, multi samples must be collected (at least 3 sample replicates) to represent only single reading. Certified reference materials (CRM) also must be analyzed along with the actual samples to validate the method of analysis.

5-1: Total arsenic analysis:

For the determination of total arsenic content, a sample size of less than 0.5 g is digested with 16% HNO₃ and 30% H_2O_2 using microwave, these condition leads to digest the samples with conversion of all As(iii) and organic arsenic to As(v), and the prepared sample can be analyzed by ICP-MS or hydride generation –AAS.

5-2: Speciation of arsenic:

If the above procedure is performed with lower strength of the oxidizing condition (very mild condition) less than 0.2% HNO₃ and 1% H₂O₂), in this case the inorganic As(iii) will be oxidized to the As(v) however the organic form will not be affected and the sample can be analyzed by ion chromatography–ICPMS. In this case MA and DMA and other organic arsenic species can be quantified.

A selective solid phase extraction sorbent were used to adsorb As(v) but not As(iii) for example the adsorbent 3-(2- amino ethyl amino) propyl trimethoxy silane (AAPTS) modified ordered meso porous silica(Li-Chen, et al. 2014)

For water samples the various arsenic species can be analyzed directly using HPLC (Chen et al., 2013)

6-Arsenic removal

It is important to remove arsenic form well(underground) and drinking water as an important source of arsenic exposure, several arsenic treatment technologies are now available, and most of them can effectively reduce the arsenic concentration in drinking water to a level below the US EPA regulated maximum contaminant level (MCL) of 10 μ g/L (parts per billion, or ppb). Most of these methods depend

- The adsorption of arsenic species on various types of a solid phase
- Anion exchange resins require regular regeneration on-site because of low arsenic selectivity
- Reverse osmosis (generate a reject waste stream)
- Oxidation/filtration processes.

Conclusion and recommendations

The major routs of human exposure to arsenic are drinking water and the consumption of food. The continuous exposure to low doses of arsenic species leads to what called Arsenicosis (disease). However, the exposure to high doses of arsenic may lead to death. The toxic effect of arsenic depends largely on the form of arsenic, the inorganic arsenic compounds are more toxic than the organics, and As(iii) species are more toxic than As(v). In food commodities other than fish and seafood the inorganic As content vary typically from 50% to 100% of the total As content.

For the protection of human health from the potential carcinogenic effects due to exposure of arsenic through drinking water or contaminated food, the drinking and ground water should not exceeds the WHO level of 10 ug/L.

Special attention must be paid for children's food especially the rice cereals for infant

References:

Alberta Environment: Available at: <u>http://esrd.alberta.ca/</u> air/objectives-directives-policies-and-standards/documents.

Al-Rmalli, S.W., Jenkins, R.O., Haris, P.I., 2011. Betel quid chewing elevates human exposureto arsenic, cadmium and lead. J. Hazard. Mater. 190 (1), 69–74.

ATSDR, 2007b.Toxicological profile for arsenic.Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.U.S.Department of Health and Human Services.

Arain, M.B., Kazi, T.G., Baig, J.A., Jamali, M.K., Afridi, H.I., Jalbani, N., et al., 2009. Respiratory effects in people exposed to arsenic via the drinking water and tobacco smoking in southern part of Pakistan. Sci. Total Environ. 407 (21), 5524–5530.

Ashley, P.M., Lottermoser, B.G., 1999. Arsenic contamination at the Mole River mine, northern New South Wales. Aust. J. Earth Sci. 46, 861–874.

Bowell, R.J, C.N. Alpers, H.E. Jamieson, D.K. Nordstrom, J. Mazjlan, The environmental geochemistry of As - an overview, Rev. Min. Geochem. 79 (2014) 1-16.

Burló F, Ramírez-Gandolfo A, Signes-Pastor AJ, Haris PI, Carbonell-Barrachina AA. Arsenic contents in Spanish infant rice, pureed infant foods, and rice. *J Food Sci* 2012;**71**:T15–9.

Carbonell-Barrachina AA, Xiangchun W, Ramírez-Gandolfo A, Norton GJ, Burló F, Deacon C, et al. Inorganic arsenic contents in rice-based infant foods from Spain, UK, China and USA. *Environ Pollut* 2012;**163**:77–83.

Chen B., Fenglin Cao, Chungang Yuan, Xiufen Lu, Shengwen Shen, Jin Zhou, X. Chris Le "Arsenic speciation in saliva of acute promyelocytic leukemia patients undergoing arsenic trioxide treatment" <u>Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry</u>, 2013, 405, 1903-1911.

Chilvers, D. C.; , P.J. Peterson, Global cycling of As, in: T.C. Hutchinson, K.M. Meena (Eds.), Lead, Mercury, Cadmium and as in the Environment, John Wiley & Sons, 1987, pp. 279-301.

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment (Website: <u>www.colorado.gov/cdphe/hm</u>) <u>https://www.colorado.gov/pacific/sites/default/files/HM_arsenic-in-soil-risk-mgt.pdf</u>

Cubadda. F., Damato, M., Aureli, F., Raggi, A, Mantovani, A. Food and Chemical Toxicology 98 (2016) 148e158.

Cullen, W.R., Reimer, K.J., 1989. Arsenic speciation in the environment. Chem. Rev. 89, 713–764.

<u>De Gregori I, Fuentes E, Rojas M, Pinochet H, Potin-Gautier M</u>. Monitoring of copper, arsenic and antimony levels in agricultural soils impacted and non-impacted by mining activities, from three regions in Chile. J Environ Monit. 2003 Apr;5(2):287-95.

Díaz OP, Leyton I, Muñoz O, Nuñez N, Devesa V, Suner MA, et al. Contribution of water, bread, and vegetables (raw and cooked) to dietary intake of inorganic arsenic in a rural village of Northern Chile. J Agric Food Chem 2004;52:1773–9.

Duan, J, J. Tan, Atmospheric heavy metals and As in China: situation, sources and control policies, Atmos. Environ. 74 (2013) 93e101.

EFSA. Scientific Opinion on Arsenic in Food. EFSA Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM); 2009.11-.

EFSA: EFSA: scientific report of EFSA: dietary exposure to inorganic arsenic in the European population. EFSA J 2014, 12:3597

EFSA, 2009. EFSA panel on contaminants in the food chain, scientific opinion on arsenic in food. EFSA J. 2009 (7), 1351.

EPA(Environmental Protection Agency, Air Quality Criteria For Particulate Matter (Final Report, Oct, 2004), US EPA, Washington DC, 2004. EPA 600/P-99/002aF-bF).

Evdokia E. Kampouroglou and Maria Economou-Eliopoulos," Assessment of arsenic and associated metals in the soil-plant-water system in Neogene basins of Attica, Greece" Catena 150 (2017) 206–222.

Heather N. Lynch, Grace I. Greenberg, Margaret C. Pollock, Ari S. Lewis" A comprehensive evaluation of inorganic arsenic in food and considerations for dietary intake analyses" Science of the Total Environment 496 (2014) 299–313.

IARC, 2016.International Agency for Research on Cancer. Classified by the IARC Monographs. https://www.iarc.en.

Jitarua, P., Sandrine Milloura, Marco Romanb, Kaoutar El Koulalia, Laurent Noëla, Thierry Guérina, "Exposure assessment of arsenic speciation in different rice types depending on the cooking mode" Journal of Food Composition and Analysis 54 (2016) 37–47.

Kabata-Pendias, H. Pendias, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 1984, p. 315.

Li Chen, M. ,Lin-YuMa,Xu-WeiChen" Newprocedures for arsenic speciation: Areview" Talanta125(2014)78–86 Liying Xua, Xi Wua,b, Shaofeng Wanga,*, Zidan Yuana, Fan Xiaoa, Yang Minga, Yongfeng Jiaa. "Speciation change and redistribution of arsenic in soil under anaerobic microbial activities", Journal of Hazardous Materials 301 (2016) 538–546.

Maher, W.A., 1985. Arsenic in coastal waters of South Australia. Water Res. 19, 933–934.

Mandal, B. K., & Suzuki, K. T. (2002). Arsenic round the world: A review. Talanta, 58(1), 201–235.

Manoj Kumar, AL. Ramanathan , Mohammad M.R, Ravi Naidu" Concentrations of inorganic arsenic in groundwater, agricultural soils and subsurface sediments from the middle Gangetic plain of Bihar, India. Science of the Total Environment 573 (2016) 1103–1114.

McCarty, K.M., Hanh, H.T., Kim, K.-W., 2011. Arsenic geochemistry and human health in South East Asia. Rev. Environ. Health 26, 71–78.

Meharg, A. A., Williams, P. N., Adomako, E., Lawgali, Y. Y., Deacon, C., Villada, A., et al. (2009). Geographical variation in total and inorganic arsenic content of polished (white) rice. Environmental Science and Technology, 43(5), 1612–1617.

Meharg, A.A., Sun, G., Williams, P.N., Adamako, E., Deacon, C., Zhu, Y.G., Feldmann, J., Raab, A., 2008b. Inorganic arsenic levels in baby rice are of concern. Environmental Pollution 152, 746e749.

Molin, M, Ulven,S.M., Helle Margrete Meltzer and Jan Alexander. "Arsenic in the human food chain, biotransformation and toxicology – Review focusing on seafood arsenic" Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology 31 (2015) 249–259.

Moon, K., Guallar, E., Navas-Acien, A., 2012. Arsenic exposure and cardiovasculardisease: an updated systematic review. Curr. Atheroscler. Rep. 14, 542–555.

Mukai, H., Ambe, Y. Determination of methyl As compounds in airborne particulate matter by gas chromatography with atomic absorption spectrometry, Anal. Chim. Acta 193 (1987) 219e229.

Norton, G.J., Pinson, S.R.M., Alexander, J., Mckay, S., Hansen, H., Duan, G.-L., Islam, M.R., Islam, S., Stroud, J.L., Zhao, F.-J., McGrath, S.P., Zhu, Y.-G., Lahner, B., Yakubova, E., Guerinot, M.L., Tarpley, L., Eizenga, G.C., Salt, D.E., Meharg, A.A., Price, A.H., 2012. Variation in grain arsenic assessed in a diverse panel of rice (Oryza sativa) grown in multiple sites. New Phytol. 193, 650–664.

Ravenscroft, P., Mcarthur, J.M., Hoque, B.A., 2013. Stable groundwater quality in deep aquifers of Southern Bangladesh: the case against sustainable abstraction. Sci. Total Environ., 454–455.

Sanchez de la Campa A.M., J.D. de la Rosa, D. S_anchez-Rodas, V. Oliveira,

Alastuey, X. Querol, J.L. G_omez-Ariza, As speciation study of PM2.5 in an urban area near a copper smelter, Atmos. Environ. 42 (2008) 6487e6495.

Smedley, P., Kinniburgh, D., 2002. A review of the source, behaviour and distribution of arsenic in natural waters. Appl. Geochem. 17, 517–568.

Smith, N.M., Lee, R., Heitkemper, D.T., DeNicola, C.K., Haque, A., Henderson, A.K., 2006. Inorganic arsenic in cooked rice and vegetables from Bangladeshi households. Sci. Total Environ. 370, 294–301.

Solomon, P.A., S.L. Altshuler, M.L. Keller, As speciation in atmospheric aerosols at the Geysers, J. Air. Waste Manage. Assos. 43 (1993) 765e768.

Spayd, S.E., Robson, M.G., Xie, R., Buckley, B.T., 2012. Importance of arsenic speciation in populations exposed to arsenic in drinking water. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess.: Int. J. 18, 1271–1291.

Tsopelas, F., L.A. Tsakanika, M. Ochsenkühn-Petropoulo, Extraction of As species from airborne particulate filters e application to an industrial area of Greece, Microchim. J. 89 (2008) 165-170.

Uneyama C, Toda M, Yamamoto M, Morikawa K. Arsenic in various foods: cumulative data. Food Addit Contam 2007;24:447–534.

U.S. EPA, 2001. National Primary Drinking Water Regulations; arsenic and clarifications to compliance and new source contaminants monitoring; final rule. EPA-815-Z-01-001. Fed. Regist. 66, 6976–7066.

[USGS] U.S. Geological Survey, Mineral Commodity Summaries 2013, U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia, 2013.

Vicky-Singh, Brar, M.S., Preeti-Sharma, Malhi, S.S., 2010. Arsenic in water, soil, and rice plants in the Indo-Gangetic plains of northwestern India. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41, 1350–1360.

Williams, M., et al., 1996. Arsenic contamination in surface drainage and groundwater in part of the southeast Asian tin belt, Nakhon Si Thammarat Province, southern Thailand. Environ. Geol. 27, 16–33.

WHO (World Health Organization). (2010). Exposure to arsenic: a major publichealth concern. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/ipcs/features/arsenic.pdf?ua=1</u>.

Yang, G.; L. Ma, D. Xu, J. Li, T. He, L. Liu, H. Jia, Y. Zhang, Y. Chen, Z. Chai, Levels and speciation of As in the atmosphere in Beijing, China, Chemosphere 87 (2012) 845e850.

Yudovich, Y.E. and Ketris M.P, As in coal: a review, Int. J. Coal Geol. 61 (2005) 141-196.